ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-GS-29-00636
Appellate Case No. 2014-000603

RECEIVED
JUL 24 2015
SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina,Respondent,

v.

Al Martinez Green,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jane H. Merrill
Hawthorne Merrill Law, LLC
410 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
864-229-1010

Robert M. Dudek
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Appellate Division
PO Box 11589 | Columbia, SC 29201-1589
803-734-1330

Attorneys for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by refusing to direct a verdict for Al Green when the State failed to present direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Mr. Green was an accomplice to murder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural Facts

On March 30, 2012, the Lancaster County Sheriff's Office arrested Al Martinez Green for murder in violation of S.C. Code Ann. section 16-3-10. The State indicted him on June 7, 2012. (R. pp. 660-661). He was tried along with his codefendant, Devatee Clinton, beginning March 10 through March 14, 2014 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. The jury found Mr. Green and Mr. Clinton guilty of murder and the trial court sentenced them both to life in prison on March 14, 2014. (R. p. 662).

Mr. Green timely filed his notice of appeal on March 21, 2014.

Factual History

On January 19, 2012, a single bullet killed Jenika Jones. (R. p. 134, lines 21-23). Four-year-old Duce, the oldest of her three children, went to a neighbor for help. (R. p. 13, lines 14-16; p. 17, lines 18-23). The Lancaster

County Sheriff's Department and the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) investigated the case. (R. p. 455, lines 5-21).

After developing some leads, law enforcement charged Devatee Clinton, Al Green, and Wayne Blakeney for Jenika Jones' murder.¹ (R. p. 403, lines 13-23).

Mr. Blakeney² said, "I told someone about [the murder] because I couldn't keep it to myself." (R. p. 434, lines 2-3). The person he told reported it to law enforcement. (R. p. 434, lines 4-6). Mr. Blakeney provided a written statement the same day he was arrested. (R. p. 411, lines 2-8).

Mr. Blakeney told law enforcement that he drove himself, Devatee Clinton, and Al Green to Roseanna Lane on the night of the murder. (R. p. 418, lines 1-4 and lines 17-25; p. 419, lines 1-4; p. 427, lines 12-17; p. 432, lines 10-14). Later, Mr. Blakeney provided the nickname of a fourth person

¹ The State charged Mr. Blakeney, Mr. Green, and Mr. Clinton with Murder, Armed Robbery, and Burglary, First Degree. The State only proceeded to trial against Mr. Clinton and Mr. Green on the murder charge. Public records show the State dismissed the remaining charges against Mr. Green and Mr. Clinton. <http://sccourts.org> (follow Records Search hyperlink; then select Lancaster County; then search by name).

² After testifying at Mr. Green and Mr. Clinton's joint trial, Mr. Blakeney pleaded guilty to Accessory After the Fact of a Felony and the court sentenced him under the Youthful Offender Act to a term not to exceed six years, which was suspended the sentence to time served and eighteen months probation. The State dismissed all other charges against Mr. Blakeney. <http://sccourts.org> (follow Records Search hyperlink; then select Lancaster County; then search by name).

who was with them, and then confirmed Delrico McDow's identity when an investigator showed him Mr. McDow's picture.³ (R. p. 434, line 21 – p. 435, line 5).

Several months after his arrest, the State consented to Mr. Blakeney being released from jail on a house arrest bond. (R. p. 404, lines 2-8). At trial, Mr. Blakeney testified for the State. (R. p. 403, lines 1-2).

Mr. Blakeney testified he was hanging out with Mr. Clinton, Mr. Green, and Mr. McDow in an area of Lancaster County called Newtown on January 19, 2012. (R. p. 412, lines 3-10). They were walking and Mr. Clinton saw a man he knew, and asked to borrow his car. (R. p. 415, lines 10-21). Mr. Blakeney drove all of them in the borrowed car to the Hole in the Wall club. (R. p. 416, lines 4-9). While at the club, Mr. Clinton asked Mr. Blakeney to drive him to get some money. (R. p. 417, lines 7-15). The same four men left the Hole in the Wall club together and went to a trailer park on Roseanna Lane. (R. p. 417, line 22 – p. 418, line 4, and lines 15-18).

On the way to Roseanna Lane, Mr. Blakeney saw Mr. Clinton carrying a small gun near his side while he sat in the front passenger seat. (R. p. 419, lines 6-23; p. 420, lines 3-4). When they arrived on Roseanna

³ As of December 5, 2014, the State has not charged Mr. McDow with any crime related to this murder. <http://sccourts.org> (follow Records Search hyperlink; then select Lancaster County; then search by name).

Lane, Mr. Blakeney waited in the car for about ten minutes after the others left the car. (R. p. 420, lines 14-23; p. 421, lines 5-6). Mr. Blakeney could not provide any details about where they went, whether they went to the same place, or to which trailer, if any, one or all of them may have gone. (R. p. 420, lines 17-23; p. 451, line 23 – p. 452, line 21).

Mr. Blakeney testified the men returned in a “bit of a hurry,” and Mr. Clinton told him to just chill, while the others in the back told him to “go.” (R. p. 421, line 13 – p. 422, line 5). Mr. Blakeney drove back to the Hole in the Wall club where they stayed for about thirty to forty minutes. (R. p. 423, lines 17-25). Mr. Blakeney then dropped off Mr. Green, and others, in the Newtown area. (R. p. 424, line 12 – p. 425, line 16). Mr. Clinton remained the only passenger in the car. (R. p. 425, lines 17-23). Mr. Blakeney was driving Mr. Clinton to his grandmother’s home on Roseanna Lane, when Mr. Clinton said, “I killed that bitch.” (R. p. 427, lines 11-17).

Mr. Blakeney stated he felt “shocked a little bit” when Mr. Clinton made this statement. (R. p. 428, lines 2-5). Mr. Blakeney told the jury he really didn’t believe Mr. Clinton until he later heard about Ms. Jones’ murder. (R. p. 427, lines 18-23; p. 433, lines 11-14).

Mr. Clinton left the gun in the car's glove compartment and told Mr. Blakeney its location and requested he "to hold it for him." (R. p. 428, lines 13-18). Mr. Blakeney then sold the gun to a relative; although he previously lied by telling a friend he had buried the gun. (R. p. 430, lines 3-7; p. 453, lines 15-19).

In addition to having Mr. Blakeney's statement, Mr. Clinton provided three separate oral statements to law enforcement regarding his whereabouts and knowledge of Mr. Jones' murder. In his first statement, Mr. Clinton said his cousin Tony Cunningham took him to the Hole in the Wall club on January 19, 2012. (R. p. 464, lines 3-11).

In his second statement, Mr. Clinton said he went to the Hole in the Wall club, wearing a camouflage jumpsuit, the night of murder. (R. p. 474, lines 7-10). Mr. Clinton also said he owned a blue jumpsuit, and he had loaned it to two other people on several occasions. (R. p. 475, lines 17-23). He then stated his DNA could be on the blue jumpsuit because he moved it around in his house. (R. p. 478, line 19 – p. 479, line 5). Initially, Mr. Clinton denied knowing Pomp Blackmon, the owner of the white Cadillac, but then later admitted he knew him. (R. p. 476, line 22 – p. 477, line 13). Mr. Clinton stated he never drove Blackmon's white Cadillac but had

leaned on it at Hole in Wall club so his DNA might be there. (R. p. 478, line 4 – p. 479, line 15).

In his third and final statement, Mr. Clinton said he saw Mr. Blakeney at the Hole in the Wall club on January 19, 2012.⁴ (R. p. 484, lines 3-6). After a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing, the trial judge allowed the jury to hear Mr. Clinton's three statements. (R. p. 378, line 5 – p. 382, line 2).

Mr. Green also provided a written statement to law enforcement and the trial court allowed the jury to hear the contents of his written statement that he arrived at the Hole in the Wall club on January 19, 2012 between 11:30 and 11:45 p.m. (R. p. 456, lines 7-10; p. 457, lines 10-19; p. 458, line 17 – p. 459, line 5).

Two State witnesses, Dominique Davis and Jamal Twitty, testified they heard Mr. Clinton ask Mr. Green if he wanted to do a "lick" with him. (R. p. 87, lines 7-11; p. 102, lines 10-24).

Latoya Green, Mr. Green's sister, testified she and the victim, Ms. Jones, were friends and she was Ms. Jones' children's godmother. (R. p. 77, lines 18-19; p. 78, lines 12-14). Prior to Ms. Jones' move to Roseanna Lane,

⁴ Mr. Clinton also stated that Mr. Green was at the club in this statement. The State said it would not "elicit testimony from the officer who took Mr. Clinton's statement that Green was in the white Cadillac." (R. p. 22, lines 4-6).

Latoya Green, Ms. Jones and her children, and Mr. Green shared an apartment. (R. p. 78, line 25 – p. 79, line 8).

Mr. Green made a pretrial motion regarding the admissibility of a statement that Ms. Jones' four-year-old son made to law enforcement close in time to his Mother's death. (R. p. 9, line 15 – p. 12, line 13). The four-year-old said, "Shi's daddy killed my mama." (R. p. 11, lines 3-5). Shi was the nickname of a child belonging to Rashad Johnson, who law enforcement investigated but did not charge. (R. p. 506, lines 9-22).

The court found it did not have to determine the competency of the child to determine whether it would allow the child's hearsay statement, and stated it would be admissible depending on how it developed. (R. p. 28, lines 10-21).

The jury did not hear this child's statements about "Shi's daddy [killing his] mama" but Mr. Green's counsel argued in closing that the four-year-old had lived with and knew Mr. Green, and never said Mr. Green was in his home the night his mother died. (R. p. 599, lines 3-18).

None of the DNA evidence implicated Mr. Green. (R. pp. 645-659) It excluded Mr. Green as a contributor on all tested items except one, in which no conclusive statement could be made about the inclusion or

exclusion of Ms. Jones, Mr. Green, or Mr. McDow's DNA on a seatbelt cutting. (R. p. 346, line 24 – p. 347, line 3; pp. 645-659;).

After the State rested its case, Mr. Green made a motion for a directed verdict. (R. p. 508, line 9 – p. 512, line 11). His counsel argued the State presented no direct evidence against Mr. Green. (R. p. 509, lines 1-4). State's witness, Mr. Blakeney, could not state whether Mr. Green ever went into Ms. Jones' trailer, never sees Mr. Green with a gun, and doesn't see Mr. Green come back to the car with the spoils of a robbery. (R. p. 509; lines 4-8; p. 510, lines 1-7). The Judge denied his motion for directed verdict. (R. p. 514, line 18 – p. 521, line 2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing an appeal from a denial of a directed verdict, the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) and *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). If there is no direct evidence or *substantial* circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove the accused's guilt, an appellate court must find the trial court improperly submitted the case

to the jury. *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50 (emphasis in original) (citing *State v. Pinckney*, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)).

The trial court should direct a verdict for the defendant when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50 (citing *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001)). When the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty, a circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion. *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50 (citing *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984)).

ARGUMENT

Did the trial court err by refusing to direct a verdict for Al Green when the State failed to present direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Mr. Green was an accomplice to murder?

Circumstantial evidence that merely arouses suspicion is an improper basis to deny a motion for directed verdict. *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 585, 541 S.E.2d 254, 257 (2001). "Suspicion' implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." *Id.* at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256 (internal citations omitted). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State's case is built

wholly on circumstantial evidence, and the State fails to present substantial circumstantial evidence the defendant committed a particular crime. *State v. Bennett*, 408 S.C. 302, 306, 758 S.E.2d 743, 745 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50).

In *State v. Arnold*, our Supreme Court upheld this court's decision reversing the defendant's murder conviction. 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004). The defendant and victim had been involved in a sexual relationship, the victim was shot and the defendant had been seen possessing a firearm, the victim's car was found about ten miles from where the defendant was living, and the defendant's fingerprint was found on a coffee cup lid in that car. *Id.* at 388-89, 605 S.E.2d at 530. The court held the facts were insufficient to raise a substantial circumstantial evidence case that could be submitted to the jury. *Id.* at 390, 605 S.E.2d at 531.

Murder is "the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S. C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (1976, as amended). For one to be guilty under an accomplice liability theory, "a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the

commission of that crime through some overt act." *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 648-49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999) (internal citations omitted)).

One who joins another to achieve an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything his partner does in carrying out the common design and purpose. *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 324 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Langley*, 334 S.C. at 648, 515 S.E.2d at 101). Importantly, mere presence at the scene, even with prior knowledge a crime may be committed, is not enough to establish accomplice liability. *State v. Thompson*, 374 S.C. 257, 262, 647 S.E.2d 702, 705 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Condrey*, 349 S.C. at 194, 562 S.E.2d at 324).

The State presented neither direct nor substantial circumstantial evidence to support the trial court's denial of a directed verdict for Mr. Green. The circumstantial evidence against Mr. Green included testimony from two inconsistent witnesses, Ms. Davis and Mr. Twitty, and Mr. Blakeney's testimony that Mr. Green rode with him to Roseanna Lane, got out of the car with Mr. Clinton and Mr. McDow, and returned "ten minutes" later, and said "go." (R. pp. 2-8; pp. 83-109; p. 421, line 6; p. 422, lines 2-3).

Three particular witnesses, Dominique Davis, Jamal Twitty, and Wayne Blakeney, provided the limited circumstantial evidence against Mr. Green. This evidence showed Mr. Green and Mr. Clinton discussed a "lick" but did not discuss any details about where and when a lick may occur, and that Mr. Green rode with Mr. Blakeney to Roseanna Lane, got out of the car for ten minutes, got back into the car and told Mr. Blakeney to "go." (R. p. 87, lines 7-11; p. 102, lines 10-24; p. 421, line 6; p. 422, lines 2-3).

Dominique Davis' testimony simply indicated she heard a conversation when Mr. Clinton and Mr. Green talked about a "lick," but it was not direct evidence because it did not "immediately establish the main fact to be proved." *State v. Phillips*, 411 S.C. 124, 133, 767 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2014) (*cert. granted*, July 2, 2015) (citing *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. 554, 563, 748 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2013)).

Dominique Davis told the jury she heard Mr. Clinton and Mr. Green talking about a "lick" and she thought "lick," meant robbery. (R. p. 86, lines 5-7 and 15-24; p. 87, lines 7-13). Ms. Davis told the jury they did not talk about any details, such as where or when this robbery might

occur or whom they might rob. (R. p. 88, line 19 – p. 89, line 9; p. 94, lines 5-16).

Ms. Davis heard Mr. Clinton said, “he had Taz’s gun and he wasn’t going to give it back to him.” (R. p. 87, lines 18-19). Ms. Davis told the jury she did not know who Taz was. (R. p. 87, lines 20-25). Yet, during her pretrial *in camera* testimony, Ms. Davis stated Taz was Mr. Clinton’s brother. (R. p. 3, lines 7-8).

Ms. Davis told the jury she heard Mr. Green ask Mr. Clinton “[d]oes she drive a black car?” but did not know to whom they may have referred. (R. p. 89, lines 10-23). Again, Ms. Davis’ trial testimony diverged from her pretrial testimony, because, *in camera*, she testified, “I don’t know who said who, but one of them said she had a black car.” (R. p. 4, lines 23-24).

Ms. Davis only provided circumstantial evidence through her testimony because it merely established “collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred.” *Rogers*, 405 S.C. at 563, 748 S.E.2d at 270 (citing *State v. Salisbury*, 343 S.C. 520, 524 n. 1, 541 S.E.2d 247, 249 n. 1 (2001)).

Jamal Twitty testified, and like Ms. Davis, offered no direct evidence against Mr. Green. Mr. Twitty testified Mr. Clinton asked him if he wanted to do a lick that was not far away, and later that evening, Mr.

Clinton asked Mr. Green the same question. (R. p. 100, lines 22-25; p. 101, lines 1-3 and lines 11-20; p. 102, lines 15-19). Mr. Twitty testified both he and Mr. Green said, "yeah, whatever" when Mr. Clinton asked. (R. p. 101, lines 1-3; p. 102, lines 16-24). Mr. Twitty's testimony conflicted with two prior statements he provided to law enforcement in the months after Ms. Jones' death. (R. p. 6, line 18 – p. 7, line 11).

Mr. Twitty's testimony, if true, did not "prove a fact without inference or presumption," and, therefore, is not direct evidence. *Rogers*, 405 S.C. at 563, 748 S.E.2d at 270 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Mr. Blakeney's testimony about Mr. Green requires the fact finder to infer or presume to establish the main fact to be proved. Mr. Blakeney only provided "collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred." *Rogers*, 405 S.C. at 563, 748 S.E.2d at 270 (citing *Salisbury*, 343 S.C. at 524 n. 1, 541 S.E.2d at 249 n. 1 (2001)). As such, Mr. Blakeney only offered circumstantial evidence against Mr. Green.

Wayne Blakeney, also charged with Ms. Jones' murder, testified that he, Mr. Clinton, Mr. Green, and Mr. McDow left the Hole in the Wall Club, and Mr. Blakeney drove, at Mr. Clinton's request and direction, to a trailer

park on Roseanna Lane the evening of January 19, 2012. (R. p. 403, lines 13-19; p. 416, lines 1-9; p. 417, lines 22-25; p. 418, lines 1-4 and lines 15-25; p. 419, lines 1-4). When they arrived on Roseanna Lane, Mr. Blakeney waited in the car for about ten minutes after the three other men left the car. (R. p. 420, line 14 – p. 421, line 6).

Mr. Blakeney said the men “disappeared” after they “they went off to [his] left.” (R. p. 420, lines 19-23). Mr. Blakeney could not see where they went, could not see Ms. Jones’ trailer, and did not see them again until they came back to the car. (R. p. 452, lines 5-21). When they returned to the car, they were in a “bit of a hurry,” Mr. Clinton told Mr. Blakeney to just chill, and the others told him to “go.” (R. p. 421, line 13 – p. 422, line 5).

Although Mr. Blakeney testified he “pulled into a driveway” on Roseanna Lane, he could not identify which driveway when shown an aerial view photo of the location. (R. p. 449, lines 13-17; p. 450, lines 4-6 and lines 10-25; p. 451, lines 1-5; pp. 643-644).

Mr. Blakeney’s testimony, if true, merely established Mr. Green rode with him, Mr. Clinton, and Mr. McDow to Roseanna Lane and placed him in the vicinity where a crime occurred, but does not place him at the scene of the crime.

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