ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Lancaster County
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-000603**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RECEIVED

JUL 20 2015

AL MARTNEZ GREEN,

Appellant. SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721
(803) 416-9367**

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

More importantly, Wayne Blakeney's testimony, various parts of which were corroborated by testimony from other witness' and DNA, provided further evidence that both defendants were guilty of murdering the victim. Blakeney testified that he is Clinton's cousin and friend, and that they sometimes hung out together. Blakeney also knows Green and McDow. Clinton did not have a driver's license at the time. So, Blakeney occasionally drove him places, if Clinton provided the transportation.

On the night January 19th, Blakeney met up with Clinton, Green and McDow in the Newton area. They later went to a residence in the same part of town, where they borrowed the white Cadillac shown in State's Exhibit 16. Blakeney did not know the name of the man from whom they borrowed the Cadillac, but Pomp Blackmon's testimony confirms that it was his 1991 eggshell white Seville. While Mr. Blackmon did not identify the persons to whom he loaned his vehicle, his testimony was that he did not loan it to the first person who asked to borrow it because that man did not have a license. Rather, Mr. Blackmon only loaned the car after he was certain that the first man's cousin had a license.

Additionally, Mr. Blackmon saw the car stop after these two men left his driveway in it and two more men got into it. He thus corroborated Blakeney's testimony that there were four people in the Cadillac: Blakeney, Clinton Green and McDow. Blakeney also testified that the four men first went to the Hole in the Wall. They all got into the Cadillac and left when Clinton asked Blakeney to take him to get some money. A quite reasonable inference from evidence that Green and McDow got into the car when Clinton asked Blakeney to take him to get money is that they intended to commit the "lick" or robbery that had been discussed on the morning and night of the 18th.

Following Clinton's directions, Blakeney drove the Cadillac to the trailer park where the

murder occurred and where Clinton lived with his grandmother. Along the way there, Blakeney saw that Clinton was armed with a gun. This is further circumstantial evidence suggesting the intent to commit the previously-discussed robbery. Once they reached the trailer park, Blakeney parked the Cadillac at a location selected by Clinton. Clinton, Green and McDow then get out of the car. Together, they walked behind a mobile home and disappeared for about ten minutes. When they returned, they were running. Clinton, who was armed, told Blakeney to chill. On the other hand, Green and McDow told Blakeney to “go” and were anxious to leave the scene.

Blakeney’s testimony that they were running when they returned to the car is circumstantially corroborated by the information in the 911 call that three men were seen running from the scene. Also and as the trial judge correctly observed, Blakeney’s testimony that he quickly drove out of the trailer park is circumstantially corroborated by cousins Shakela Montgomery and Tameca Nelson. When they turned on the road to go into the trailer park, a white car headed in the opposite direction almost ran them off of the road. The car’s headlights were not on and it was being driven fast. A clear inference from their testimony is that this occurred shortly after the murder because neither woman saw police or EMS.

Shakela testified that the car was “an Oldsmobile, Buick, [or] Cadillac style.” **Tr. pp. 247; 250; 252. R. pp. 63; 66; 68.** Tameca described the car as “a white Cadillac with a rag top.” **Tr. pp. 297-98. R. pp. 112-113.** Tameca saw the same car the next day over at the Piggly Wiggly with a flat tire. This corroborates Blakeney’s testimony of where he left the car and the condition it was in, as well as Blackmon’s testimony about the condition of the vehicle when he found it the next day.

Blakeney’s testimony that he quickly drove out of the trailer park is also circumstantially corroborated by testimony that a missing piece of molding that was on the Cadillac when Mr.

Blackmon loaned out the car on the 19th was found by Inv. Thompson on January 23rd, in the area of the road leading to the trailer park. Blakeney's testimony is likewise corroborated by evidence that there was red mud on the Cadillac that previously had not been on it.

Blakeney also testified that he drove back to the Hole in the Wall after leaving the trailer park. Green admitted to Tinsley, his girlfriend, and to Capt. Greene that he was at the Hole in the Wall on January 19th, and Ms. Stradford saw Clinton there. Blakeney later dropped off Green, McDow and two strangers in the Newton area before he took Clinton home: *i.e.*, back to the mobile immediately adjacent to the victim's. As they were headed to Clinton's residence, Clinton said, "I shot the bitch." This is express evidence of malice. *E.g.*, *Salazar v. State*, 397 S.W.2d 220 223 (Tex. Cr.App. 1966) ("Statements made by a slayer before, at the time of, and after the homicide are pertinent evidence to show express malice"); *Hinton v. People*, 169 Colo. 545, 551, 458 P.2d 611, 613 (Colo. 1969) (in light of defendant's statement to victim, "Bitch, I'll kill you," promptly followed by defendant delivering a staggering blow and the fatal stabbing, "the jury could find that defendant killed [the victim] with deliberation and premeditation, and hence, with express malice"); *Hopkins v. State*, 190 Ga. 180, 185, 8 S.E.2d 633, 636 (Ga. 1940) (un-contradicted evidence that defendant cursed victim and called him a "vile and vulgar name" immediately before striking the fatal blow was sufficient to show express malice).

Green contends that it was prejudicial for the trial judge to rely upon this evidence in denying his directed verdict motion. However, a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal. *See State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); *State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997). *See also State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently

specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”).

Alternatively, Respondent again notes that the State prosecuted Green under the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. One who joins another to achieve an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything his partner does in carrying out the common design and purpose. *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 324 (Ct.App. 2002). Further, the statement was made shortly before Clinton left his cousin, Blakeney, with the murder weapon, an act clearly in furtherance of the previously established conspiracy. Also, a very reasonable inference is that Clinton made the statement in order to gain the assistance of his cousin and friend in covering up the crime and to keep his cousin from saying anything about what had occurred on the 18th. Thus, it was properly admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(E), SCRE, and *State v. Sims*, 387 S.C. 557, 694 S.E.2d 9 (2010). Respondent notes that this Court has previously considered similar statements in ruling upon a directed verdict motion. *See State v. Zeigler*, 364 S.C. 94, 610 S.E.2d 859 (Ct.App. 2005) (brother’s statement that he kicked victim to death properly considered in denying co-defendant brother’s directed verdict motion).

Additionally, Mr. Blackmon testified that there was a blue jumpsuit in his car when he retrieved it on January 23rd that had not been in it when he loaned it out on the 19th. So, he turned the jumpsuit over to the Sheriff’s Office. Vivian Stradford testified that she was at Crenco after 10:30 p.m. on the 19th when Clinton approached her and asked for cigarettes. He was coming from the Hole in the Wall and he was wearing the same blue jumpsuit that Mr. Blackmon later found in the Cadillac. (State’s Exhibit 37). Ms. Stradford tried to discuss what she had heard about the victim with Clinton, but he was not interested in discussing the matter. Once again, the

trial judge correctly reasoned that a reasonable inference from her testimony is that the reason he did not want to discuss the victim's death is because he already knew what had occurred: either he, Green or McDow had murdered her.

Furthermore, even though the DNA evidence in this case did not yield the type of statistical analyses that often identify a criminal wrongdoer(s) with virtually unerring precision, it nevertheless corroborated other evidence presented by the State. The DNA profile on a swab of the screen door handle (State's Exhibit 42, SLED item 2) was a mixture of individuals and neither the victim nor co-defendant McDow could be excluded from that mixture.

This provides circumstantial evidence of his presence at the crime scene and thereby circumstantially corroborates Blakeney's testimony. Again, Clinton's statement that "I shot that bitch" tends to prove that he was the triggerman and thus establishes his presence when the crime was committed. Further, in light of Blakeney's testimony as to what occurred at the trailer park, a reasonable inference is that both Green and McDow were with him when he shot her.

With respect to the touch DNA testing of the blue jumpsuit, the DNA profile developed on SLED item 6.3 was a mixture of at least two individuals and "Clinton could not be excluded as a possible contributor to this mixture. The probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual who could have contributed to this mixture is approximately one in 580." Also, there was not enough information to either include or the victim from that mixture. **Tr. pp. 597-603, 610; 615. R. pp. 340-346, 353; 358.**

The DNA profile developed SLED item 6.4, a swab from the blue jumpsuit, was a "mixture of at least four individuals." Again, Clinton could not be excluded as a possible contributor to the mixture. "The probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual who could have contributed to this mixture is approximately one in 12." Also, Agent Boehm could

not make a conclusive determination as to whether the victim, Green or McDow were contributors to the mixture found. **Tr. pp. 603-07. R. pp. 346-350.**

In addition, the murder in this case was committed with a deadly weapon and malice may be inferred or implied from the use of that weapon. *See State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009) (“The permissive inference charge concerning the use of a deadly weapon remains a correct statement of the law where the only issue presented to the jury is whether the defendant has committed murder (or assault and battery with intent to kill”); *In re Walter M.*, 386 S.C. 387, 391 & n. 2, 688 S.E.2d 133, 135 & n. 2 (Ct.App. 2009) (finding that “[b]ecause the family court could infer malice from a defendant's use of a deadly weapon or from the evidence that the discharge of the weapon was likely not accidental, this evidence was sufficient to overcome Appellant's motion for a directed verdict” and concluding that *Belcher's* disapproval of the instruction where there is evidence supporting a lesser-included offense of self-defense was not dispositive of reliance upon inference at directed verdict stage). *See also Tr. p. 885. R. p. 534 (Solicitor's closing argument); Tr. p. 981. R. p. 630 (jury charge).* Finally, Clinton and Green both admitted that they had been at the Hole in the Wall on the night of the 18th and Clinton made the inconsistent statements to law enforcement discussed, *supra*.

Notwithstanding Green's contrary argument concerning perceived deficiencies in the prosecution's proof of his guilt, Respondent submits that the trial judge properly refused to grant a directed verdict because there was sufficient direct and substantial circumstantial evidence of Clinton's guilt submit the murder charge to the jury. *E.g., Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 62, 502 S.E.2d at 69; *Irvin*, 270 S.C. at 543, 243 S.E.2d at 197; *Martin*, 340 S.C. at 602, 533 S.E.2d at 574.

None of the various matters that he felt the State was should have proven but did not demonstrate any error by the trial judge in refusing to grant a directed verdict. For instance, his

suggestion that the State did not prove that he was present inside the victim's home ignores both the reasonable inferences discussed from Blakeney's testimony and the DNA from the screen door handle discussed above, as well as evidence tending to show that Clinton was in the residence and shot the victim. As a result, the jury could find him guilty as an accomplice for Clinton's actions.

Also, the State was not required to produce the murder weapon. However, the State's evidence explained that the reason it was unable to locate the murder weapon was because Clinton gave the gun to Blakeney when he got out of the Cadillac at his grandmother's house and asked Blakeney to hold it for him.¹²

Likewise, his attack on the testimony by Ms. Davis and Mr. Twitty concerning the plan by Green and Clinton to rob someone is without merit. Their testimony of this conspiracy and clear-cut motive cannot be divorced from the actions of the two men on the 19th, when they went to get Clinton "money," and evidence that the victim was murdered during an obvious robbery or attempted robbery of her residence. Similarly, his complaint about the supposed shortcomings of Blakeney's testimony ignores that the State presented a great deal of evidence that corroborated Blakeney's testimony. It further ignores very clear inferences from his testimony, as discussed.

Also, the attack on Blakeney's credibility only goes to the credibility that he felt the jury should assign to the testimony and has no bearing on whether the trial judge should have granted his motion for a directed verdict. *E.g., Weston*, 367 S.C. at 292, 625 S.E.2d at 648 ("When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict [only] when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged"); *McHoney*, 344 S.C. at 97, 544 S.E.2d at 36

¹² A reasonable inference from this evidence was that he was attempting to dispose of the weapon or, at the very least, he was attempting to hide it until he was certain that he was not a suspect in the murder.

(same).

In the directed verdict motion in the trial court, Green did not juxtapose the evidence presented in his case with that presented in *State Thompson*, 374 S.C. 257, 647 S.E.2d 702 (Ct.App. 2007), or *Gibson, supra*. Therefore, his argument in this regard is not properly before this Court on appeal because a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal. *See Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5-6, 377 S.E.2d at 584; *Prioleau*, 345 S.C. at 411, 548 S.E.2d at 216 (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); *Watts*, 321 S.C. at 167, 467 S.E.2d at 278 (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”). *See also State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal”).

More importantly, Respondent submits that the State’s evidence in this case is a far cry from the circumstantial evidence cases where this Court or the Supreme Court has found that a directed verdict should have been granted. *See, e.g., State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011); *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011); *State v. Bennett*, 408 S.C. 302, 758 S.E.2d 743 (Ct.App. 2014).¹³ Unlike *Bostick*, *Odems*, *Bennett* and *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C.

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